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Abstract. The article is dedicated to the history of publishing activity in the Chernihiv diocese in
New time. The basic stages of development are analysed. Reasons of decline of diocese printing-house and
publishing activity are certain at the end of 18" - the beginning of 19" centuries, her gradual fading to the
middle 19" century. The circumstances of revival of publishing activity of the Chernihiv diocese are considered
in the second half of 19" century
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The first printed edition, the book “Perlo Mnohotsinne” by Kyrylo Stavrovetskyi, archimandrite
of Chernihiv Yeletskyi Dormition Monastery, was published in the Chernihiv Eparchy in 1646. This
bibliographic replica, as well as the biography of the Chernihiv first printer in general, is the subject of
constant attention of researchers [MacJioB, C. 1984; Cutnii, 1. 2013; Tapacenko, A. 2013]. Regular
publishing activity began in 1674 with the foundation of a stationary printing house by Chernihiv
Archbishop Lazar Baranovych in Novhorod-Siverskyi Saviour-Transfiguration Monastery, which
was moved in 1679 to the territory of Chernihiv St. Elijah Monastery. The scientific foundation for
the study of the history of Chernihiv St. Elijah Printing House was laid in due time by Archbishop
Philaret (Humilevskyi) [Apxuenuckon ®uiapet. 1861], T. Kameneva [KameneBa, T. 1959], S.
Klepikov [KnenukoB, C. 1963]. The interest in this theme is fuelled even now by modern Chernihiv
local historians 1. N. Akymenko [Akumenko, I. 2002], O. Kovalenko [KoBagenko, A. 1989], S.
Polovnikova [Koaekisi, 1998], I. Sytyi [Cutnid, I. 2011; Curnii, 1. 2012], O. Tarasenko [ Tapacenko,
0. 2010].

The publishing activity of the Chernihiv Eparchy in the 19" and early 20" centuries should be
divided into three periods. The first one coincides almost entirely with the first half of the 19" century
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and is connected exclusively with the work of the St. Elijah Printing House, which, as before, was
under the jurisdiction of Trinity-St. Elijah Monastery (the Chernihiv House of Bishop). This period is
described in the essays of V. Dubrovskyi. According to the materials studied by the author, the sale of
books, retail through contractors and wholesale to merchants, was resumed in 1799 [lyopoBcbKuii,
B. 1928]. But the then Chernihiv Archbishop Viktor (Sadkovskyi) reported to the Holy Synod that the
Chernihiv Printing House had not published books that year [PTHA. ®. 796, om. 81, x. 4.]. It means
that old stocks of books were for sale. But later the Printing House began to produce printed products
with the support of several experienced craftsmen hired from the Kyiv-Pechersk Printing House. At
the beginning of the 19" century, the St. Elijah Printing House published rather large editions (from 50
to 4.5 thousand copies) of the New Testament, Psalter, missals, Books of Hours, menaia, breviaries,
irmolais, octoichos “Platon’s speeches” (by metropolitan Platon), canons, prayer books, “grammar
books”, ABC books, “calendars” in various formats, in bindings and notebooks [/lydopoBcbskuii, B.
1928, c. 8, 12]. Subsequently, these editions were supplemented in mass circulation by “Books of
Apostles”, “Psalters to Study”, “Acathistus”, “Nicholas Books”, “Catechisms”, “Homilies of the
Saints”, “Verses”, and printed editions needed for the divine services and breviaries (corporals,
prayers of permission, wreaths/crowns), “approvals” (forms for concluding agreements between the
clergy of the parish and parishioners), etc. [[lydopoBcbkuii, B. 1928, c. 27, 28, 40, 41].

The St. Elijah Printing House did not work steadily. There were years when it stopped producing
printed matter. At least according to the official reports, books were not printed in 1804 [PTHA. ®.
796, on. 85, 1. 381], 1809 [PTHA. ®. 796, om. 90, n. 429], 1817 [PTHA. ®. 796, om. 99, n. 176]
(Archbishop Michael) and in 1820 [PTHA. ®. 796, om. 102, n. 168, 1. 1] (Archbishop Semion).
But we cannot fully trust this information, knowing that printing houses (including the Chernihiv
Printing House) had the custom of secretly printing and selling products. From the sold products
during only the first years (from 1799 to 1803) the Printing House received more than 1,200 rubles of
net income [/lydopoBcbhkuid, B. 1928, c. 6], and in total, for the period from 1799 to 1844 the income
was approximately 40 000,00 roubles [[Ly6poBcskuii, B. 1928, c. 25].

In the early 1840s, the Chernihiv St. Elijah Printing House fell into decay, and in 1845 it actually
ceased its activity. The management of the House of Bishop addressed Chernihiv Archbishop Paul
(Podlipskyi) with a request to sell the equipment of the Printing House. The archbishop authorised it
and everything was sold off in parts. V. Dubrovskyi explains the reasons for the decline and elimination
of St. Elijah Printing House by the lack of competitiveness of its products in comparison with the
synodal editions [[lyopoBcbkuii, B. 1928, c. 44]. From that time until 1861 Chernihiv did not have its
own Eparchy Printing House. But in the 1840s-50s, representatives of the Chernihiv clergy published
various materials about the local church life on the pages of the newly founded “Chernigovskie
Gubernskie Vedomosti” (“Chernihiv Province News”), thus accumulating the potential for the future
revival of the purely ecclesiastical publishing process in the Eparchy.

In 1859, the elderly and not healthy archbishop Pavlo (Podlipskyi) retired. Archbishop Philaret
(Humilevskyi), a well-known historian of the Church and an expert in religious literature who had
previously occupied the chair in Kharkiv, was appointed to take his place in Chernihiv. From that
moment a new time of reading begins in the Chernihiv Eparchy, a new period of its development,
also in the publishing sphere. It is explained by both the archbishop himself whose active nature left
noticeable traces in the places of his previous service, and by the start of a new, transformative epoch
in the history of the Russian Empire.

Probably there are no areas of the Eparchy life that would not have been touched by the activity
of Archbishop Philaret (Humilevskyi) [JIucTtoBekuid, U. 1894; Tapacenko, O. 2004]. In Chernihiv,
he continued his favourite occupation, scientific and literary work, as well as publishing activity
until he died in 1866. He published a historical essay about Chernihiv bishops in the “Proceedings
of the Kyiv Theological Academy” in 1860 [Apxuenuckon ®@unapet. 1860]. The same year he re-
established the printing house at Trinity-St. Elijah Monastery (The Chernihiv House of Bishop) and
sought permission from the Holy Synod to publish “The Chernihiv Eparchy News” [PTHA. ®. 796,
om. 141, n. 2149, 2262]. The edition was published from the summer of 1861 to the end of 1911. This
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period can be considered the second period of publishing activity in the Chernihiv Eparchy, which
coincides with the publication of the Eparchy periodical. The editorial staff comprised mainly the
teachers of the Chernihiv Theological Seminary.

In addition to the journal, Archbishop Philaret (Humilevskyi) published some of his former
(amended) and new works in the renewed St. Elijah Printing House. After his death, the editorial
team gathered together the church and local history materials published in the journal at the initiative
of the archbishop. They were published separately in seven volumes under the title “Historical and
Statistical Description of the Chernihiv Eparchy” [KoBanenko, O., Tapacenko, O. 1998]. This
edition became a bibliographic rarity. Since the 1880s, “Address-Calendars of the Chernihiv Eparchy
Clerical Department” have been published, as well as reports on the state of educational institutions,
reports on the activities of Orthodox brotherhoods on the territory of the Chernihiv Eparchy, etc. were
published as separate editions.

Coming back to “The Chernihiv Eparchy News”, it should be noted that they are a
bibliographic rarity, as well as a valuable historical source, first of all, for the study of the history of
the Chernihiv Eparchy. This explains the unflagging interest of researchers in them [Teiina, O. 2007,
baaxkutauii, M. 2019]. More attention is paid to the unofficial part of the journal, “Pribavlenia”
(“Additions”) [Kapmuucbkuid, K. 1905; Iepionuuni Bumanns. 2003], which contains many
materials on the history of Chernihiv-Siver Land from the times of Kyiv Rus till the end of the 18™"
century. The official part of the journal related respectively to the second half of the 19" — the beginning
of the 20" centuries, also contains valuable information [Tapacenko, O. 2013 a; Baakuruunii, M.
2019]. Many of the most interesting and popular materials and essays (from the point of view of the
editorial board) were reprinted in separate brochures, which was typical for the publishing activity of
that time. A lengthy historical essay on the occasion of the 900th anniversary of the founding of the
Chernihiv bishop’s chair was published as a separate brochure. Celebrations were scheduled for 1892
but were held a year later [Tapacenko, O. 2013 6]. The next burst of publishing activity was related
to the canonisation of Chernihiv Archbishop Theodosius (Uglitskyi) in 1896 [Tapacenko, A. 2005].
Not only on the pages of “The Chernihiv Eparchy News”, but also in other Chernihiv publications
the materials from the biography of the saint kept in the archives of the Theological Consistory and
the House of Bishop were published. In 1900 and 1903 two books dedicated to Chernihiv Yeletskyi
Dormition Monastery written by P.Dobrovolskyi [dopoBoabckuii, I1. 1900] and Archpriest A.
Yefimov [E¢umos, A. 1903] were published. In 1908, Archpriest A. Yefimov published a voluminous
essay on Chernihiv cathedral monasteries [E¢umo, A. 1908]. The same year, the Chernihiv Eparchy
Antiquities Depository, practically a church-historical museum, was commenced. It published two
collections: the first one in 1908, dedicated to the founding of the depository, and the second one in
1916, which was entirely dedicated to the newly canonised Ioann (John) Maksymovych, a native of
Chernihiv region and a Chernihiv archbishop, later a Metropolitan of Tobolsk.

In 1911, after the death of archbishop Anthony (Sokolov), Bishop Vasyl (Bohoiavlenskyi) was
appointed to the Chernihiv cathedra. He was a very active bishop, and many transformations in the
Chernihiv Eparchy and the realisation of many large and interesting projects, including those in the
publishing sphere, are associated with him [[loriii, H., Tapacenko, O. 2007]. The third and last
period of publishing activity in the Chernihiv Eparchy occurred within the indicated chronological
framework.

The publishing activity of Chernihiv Archbishop Vasyl began with the compilation of the
jubilee album book “Pictures of Chernihiv Eparchy Church Life from Its 9 Centuries of History”
(Kyiv, 1911). The editorial team worked on the book under the direct supervision of the archbishop.
The artistic design of the edition was done by N.A. Protopopov, a PhD in theology and a graduate
of the Imperial Academy of Arts. Reviews of this jubilee edition noted its rich content and the high
quality of artwork [OT3bIB. 1911].

The album book in a white leather binding was presented to Emperor Nicholas IT on 5 September
1911 during his visit to Chernihiv. The same copies were presented to the members of the emperor
family and several accompanying persons. The book represented a historical sketch of the Eparchy
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life. The text was illustrated with zincographs and photographs, their total number was over 400.
The book contained images of 24 miracle-working icons, remarkable in any respect churches of
the Eparchy, monasteries, iconostases, portraits of Chernihiv princes and archbishops, buildings of
theological and educational institutions and church schools, views of Chernihiv and district towns, as
well as a map of Chernihiv province. According to the Eparchy press, “no other Eparchy has ever had
such a publication” [KapTunbi. 1911]. The book immediately became a bibliographic rarity.

When this publishing project was successfully implemented, Archbishop Vasyl took up a
periodical. At the beginning of the 20™ century, the journal “The Chernihiv Eparchy News” lost much
of its popularity among readers. Its pages began to be dominated by reprints from other publications,
first of all, “Vedomosti” (“News”) of other Eparchies. Archbishop Vasyl initiated the closure of the
publication. Instead, a scientific and theological journal “Vera I Zhizn” (“Faith and Life”) began to be
published in 1912, differing not only in its name but also in its larger format and quality of polygraphy.
The publisher was the Brotherhood of St. Michael, Prince of Chernihiv [Yeras. 1911]. The new
editorial board set the task “to reveal and implement the high doctrine of the Orthodox Christian
Church, expanding it in the minds of the clergy and clarifying it in the minds of the congregation; to
illuminate modern religious and philosophical trends from the Orthodox Christian point of view; to
report theoretical and practical information useful for the clergy in their pastoral and missionary work
and edifying for the congregation, to help the clergy and the Orthodox congregation to understand
the complex phenomena of modern ecclesiastical, social and scientific life, establishing an Orthodox
Christian point of view on them” [?Kypnaa. 1911].

There were five thematic sections in the first, unofficial part of the journal: 1) theological-
philosophical (popular science articles on various issues of Orthodox Christian theology and
philosophy); 2) pastoral-missionary (articles on various aspects and issues of pastoral practice,
sermons, talks, etc. ); 3) church-historical (articles on church history, archaeology, etc.); 4) literary-
pedagogical (articles on literature, pedagogy, belles-lettres); 5) church-social (chronicle of local and
public life, bibliography, miscellaneous). The second part of the journal published official information.
The magazine was published twice a month, but during World War I, failures began and the journal
was published once a month in double issues. In 1917 only four issues were published and the journal
ceased to exist [[Tepiommuni Buganns. 2003].

In addition to the journal, Archbishop Vasyl initiated in 1914 the publication of the newspaper
“Chernigovskiy Tserkovno-Obshchestvennyi Vestnik” (“Chernihiv Church and Society News”),
founded also under the aegis of the Brotherhood of St. Michael, Prince of Chernihiv. At first, it
was published 3 times a week, then daily. Archbishop Vasyl persuaded the Congress of Delegates
of the clergy to build a large House of Eparchy in the centre of Chernihiv (now the building of
the Chernihiv Regional Philharmonic Society) with an autonomous heating, and power station. It
comprised a large meeting hall, the Eparchy Antiquities Depository, the Brotherhood of St. Michael,
Prince of Chernihiv, workshops, shops and so on. New printing equipment was also purchased and
a new printing house was actually founded, and a bookshop was opened. The House was to become
the centre of Eparchy life.

In February 1917, a revolution occurred in the Russian Empire, tsarism was defeated, and
power passed to the Provisional Government. The year 1917 ceased the activities of the House and of
Archbishop Vasyl, who was arrested in March, accused of misuses, but was acquitted. In August 1918,
as part of a commission to investigate the murder of Andronik (Nikolskyi) in Perm, he was tortured to
death by the Bolsheviks. At the Jubilee Council of 2000, he was canonised as a holy martyr.

In May 1917, bishop Pachomius (Kedrov) was elected Bishop of Chernihiv. Diocesan life
continued. However, at the beginning of 1918, Chernihiv was captured by the Russian Bolshevik
army. A communist government was established that professed an anti-religious policy. All diocesan
educational institutions and organizations were closed. On March 4, 1919, the Chernihiv Spiritual
Consistory was liquidated. Publishing activity in the Chernihiv diocese ceased [M3BecTus. 1919].

Thus, the publishing activity of the Chernihiv Eparchy has deep roots. Permanent book printing
began in the 1670s and continued intermittently until the end of the 18" century. At that time the
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Chernihiv St. Elijah Printing House became famous along with the Printing House of Kyiv-Pechersk
Lavra. Publications were made mainly in the Church Slavic language. At the beginning of the 19"
century, the Printing House was renewed. Liturgical and teaching printed matter prevailed among
its products. In 1845 the old printing house was ceased and sold off in parts. The new period of
publishing activity was connected, first of all, with the foundation of the journal “The Chernihiv
Eparchy News”, which was regularly published until the end of 1911. It was a publication that met the
modern requirements of publishing standards. The publications covered a wide range of problems,
both Eparchy and church-wide. Sometimes there were also separate publications in the Eparchy:
books and brochures. But there was no regular work in this direction, which testifies to the weak
intellectual potential of local ecclesiastic writers. The new Archbishop Vasyl (Bohoiavlenskyi) ceased
the journal, and instead a new journal “Faith and Life”” was published regularly until early 1917. The
Archbishop also started publishing the newspaper “Chernihiv Church and Society News”. Among
the individual publications, the album book prepared for the visit of the tzar family to Chernihiv in
September 1911 received great resonance. After the revolution and the establishment of Bolshevik
power, the publishing activities of the Eparchy ceased. The normalisation of church life in the second
half of the 1980s also put on the agenda the establishment of its own printed organ. In many Eparchies
full-fledged eparchy journals were either restored or reestablished. In the Chernihiv Eparchy, however,
a small newspaper “Troitskiy Vestnik” (“The Trinity News”) was founded, which is being published
to date. There is still neither enough money nor intellectual potential among the local clergy for a
large one.
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“Chernihiv Church and Society News” (1914. Ne 1)
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“Pictures of Chernihiv Eparchy Church Life from Its 9 Centuries of History”
(1911) (Cover)
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